ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE HEALTH AND SOCI AL SERVI CES STANDI NG COW TTEE
March 18, 2017
3:03 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative |Ivy Spohnhol z, Chair
Representative Sam Kito

Representative Geran Tarr
Representative David Eastnman
Representative Jennifer Johnston
Representative Colleen Sullivan-Leonard

VEVMBERS ABSENT
Representative Bryce Edgnon, Vice Chair

Representative Matt C aman (alternate)
Representati ve Dan Saddl er (alternate)

COWM TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO 159

"An Act relating to the prescription of opioids; establishing
the Voluntary Nonopioid Directive Act; relating to the
controlled substance prescription database; relating to the
practice of dentistry; relating to the practice of nedicine;
relating to the practice of podiatry; relating to the practice
of osteopathy; relating to the practice of nursing; relating to
the practice of optonetry; relating to the practice of
veterinary nedicine; related to the duties of the Board of
Phar macy; and providing for an effective date."

- HEARD & HELD

CS FOR SENATE BILL NO 91(HSS)

"An Act relating to the opioid epidemc; authorizing the chief
medi cal officer of the Departnent of Health and Social Services
to issue a standing order for the prescription of an opioid
overdose drug; and providing for an effective date."

- MOVED CSSB 91(HSS) OQUT OF COW TTEE

HOUSE BI LL NO. 103
"An Act relating to the practice of optometry."

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -1- March 18, 2017



- MOVED CSHB 103(HSS) QUT OF COW TTEE

PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

BILL: HB 159

SHORT TI TLE: OPI O DS; PRESCRI PTI ONS; DATABASE; LI CENSES

SPONSOR( s)

03/ 06/ 17
03/ 06/ 17
03/ 18/ 17

BILL: SB 91
SHORT TITLE
SPONSOR( s)

03/ 10/ 17
03/ 10/ 17
03/ 13/ 17
03/ 13/ 17
03/ 13/ 17
03/ 15/ 17
03/ 15/ 17
03/ 15/ 17
03/ 16/ 17
03/ 16/ 17

03/ 16/ 17
03/ 16/ 17
03/ 17/ 17
03/ 17/ 17
03/ 17/ 17

03/ 18/ 17

BILL: HB 103

SHORT TI TLE: OPTOVETRY &
SPOHNHOLZ

SPONSOR( s) :

02/ 03/ 17
02/ 03/ 17
03/ 14/ 17
03/ 14/ 17
03/ 14/ 17
03/ 16/ 17
03/ 16/ 17

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE

NN N

H)
H)
H)

RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS
HSS, FIN
HSS AT 3: 00 PM CAPI TOL 106

DI SASTER EMERGENCY: OPI O D EPI DEM C

(S)
(S)
(S)
(S)
(S)
(S)
(S)
(S)
(S)
(S)

I3T3222I2

RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS

HSS

HSS AT 1: 30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

Heard & Held

M NUTE( HSS)

HSS AT 1: 30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

Moved CSSB 91(HSS) Qut of Conmittee

M NUTE( HSS)

HSS RPT CS 5DP NEW Tl TLE

DP: WLSQON, VON | VHOF, BEGQ CH, d ESSEL,
M CCl CHE

TRANSM TTED TO (H)

VERSI ON:  CSSB 91( HSS)

READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS

HSS

HSS WAI VED PUBLI C HEARI NG NOTI CE, RULE
23

HSS AT 3: 00 PM CAPI TOL 106

OPTOVETRI STS

READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
HSS, L&C

HSS AT 3: 00 PM CAPI TOL 106
Heard & Hel d

M NUTE( HSS)

HSS AT 3:00 PM CAPI TOL 106
Schedul ed but Not Heard

-2- March 18, 2017



03/ 18/ 17 (H HSS AT 3: 00 PM CAPI TOL 106
W TNESS REG STER

JAY BUTLER, MD, Chief Medical Oficer/ DPH Director

Central Ofice

Di vision of Public Health

Department of Health and Social Services

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during discussions of HB
159 and SB 91.

BERNI CE NI SBETT, Staff

Representative |vy Spohnhol z

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answer ed questions about HB 103 on behal f
of the bill sponsor, Representative Spohnhol z.

JI LL GEERI NG MATHESQN, OD
Juneau, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 103.

HARRI ET M LKS, Assistant Attorney Ceneral

Commerci al and Fair Business Section

Cvil Division (Juneau)

Depart nment of Law

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answer ed questions during discussion of HB
103.

RACHEL REI NHARDT, NMD

Aneri can Acadeny of Opht hal nol ogy

Seattle, WA

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 103.

VI CTORI A BLONER, OD

Optonetri st

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 103.

KARL ROSEN, MD

Opht hal nol ogi st

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 103.

ALFRED DERAMUS, MD

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 3- March 18, 2017



Opht hal nol ogi st
Fai r banks, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 103.

DAVI D ZUMBRO, MD

Opht hal nol ogi st

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 103.

PAUL BARNEY, OD

Chair

Board of Optonetry

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 103.

ELI ZABETH MORGAN, MD

Opht hal nol ogi st

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during discussion of HB 103.

DAVI D KARPI K, OD
Kenai, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 103.

ERI C COULTER, MD

Opht hal nol ogi st

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to HB 103.

ERI K CHRI STI ANSQN, CD

Opt onetri st

Ket chi kan, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 103.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
3:03:19 PM

CHAIR 1 VY SPOHNHOLZ called the House Health and Social Services
Standing Commttee neeting to order at 3:03 p.m Representatives
Spohnhol z, Sul I'i van- Leonard, East man, Kito, and Tarr were
present at the call to order. Representative Johnston arrived
as the nmeeting was in progress.

HB 159- OPI A DS; PRESCRI PTI ONS; DATABASE; L1 CENSES

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -4- March 18, 2017



3:03:59 PM

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ announced that the first order of business would
be HOUSE BILL NO 159, "An Act relating to the prescription of
opi oids; establishing the Voluntary Nonopioid Directive Act;
relating to the controlled substance prescription database;
relating to the practice of dentistry; relating to the practice
of medicine; relating to the practice of podiatry; relating to
the practice of osteopathy; relating to the practice of nursing;
relating to the practice of optonetry; relating to the practice
of veterinary nedicine; related to the duties of the Board of
Pharmacy; and providing for an effective date."

3:04: 59 PM

JAY BUTLER, MD, Chief Medical Oficer/ DPH Director, Central
Ofice, Dvision of Public Health, Departnent of Health and
Soci al Services, stated that there had been a fourfold increase
in the nunber of opioid associated deaths in the past 20 years.
He declared that this was an opioid epidemc, pointing out that
no other cause of death had increased so renarkably over such a
short period of tine. He reported that there was also an
increase in the rates of Hepatitis C, as well as other burdens
on the health care system associated with increased use of

opioids, both legal and illicit. He said that there were nmany
things that had to be done, which would require a nulti-faceted
appr oach. He declared that it was necessary to address the

needs of people who were currently struggling wth addiction,
and to prevent addiction through nore evidence based prescribing
practices, control the flood of prescription opioids in the
comunity, and address the access to treatnent and the de-
stigmatization by inproving provider know edge. He reported
that there had been an increase in illicit opioid use, beginning
with heroin in the past five years, and nore recently wth
fentanyl and other synthetic opioids. He noted that 80 percent
of heroin users started opioid wuse wth prescription

pai nkill ers. He said that HB [159] aligned wth nany
prescribing guidelines delivered to the legislature from the
health care boards through Senate Bill 74 in 2016, as well as

the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention pain managenent
gui delines, and the Surgeon General's report on alcohol, drugs,

and heal t h. He added that recent statenents from the American
Medi cal Associ ation and the American Dental Associ ation, as well
as reconmmendat i ons for evi dence based i mpr ovenent and

prescription drug nmonitoring from the PEW Charitable Trust also
supported these guidelines.

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 5- March 18, 2017



DR. BUTLER offered to outline the proposed bill for three
particul ar areas: patients, providers, and the prescription drug
nmoni toring program He said that proposed HB [159] enpowered
patients in tw ways, it provided an option for those who did
not wish to be prescribed opioids to communicate that preference
to the providers by way of a voluntary revocable opioid advanced
directive which could be placed on the nedical record. He
shared that this had been a request fromthe recovery comunity,
describing the challenges they faced in interactions with the
health care system when a provider was unaware that the patient

was in recovery. He shared that the second way was that it
allowed patients to request that the pharmacist dispense |ess
than the total prescribed anmount. He said that a partial fil

was authorized under federal law, with a goal to affirm the
rights of the patient and the authority of the pharnacist. He
said that a portion of the continuing professional education
that health care providers nust receive would include a section
of at least two hours designated on pain nanagenent and the
basi cs of addiction nedicine. He explained that the renewal of
a nedical license required at Ileast 40 hours of continuing
medi cal education credit. He said that the second conponent for
providers was a setting of dispensing limts for the initial
opioid prescription to no nore than 7 days. He added that the
proposed bill did allow exceptions, when in the professional
judgnment of the provider, a longer supply was necessary due to
chronic pain, severe acute pain, cancer pain, or palliative
care, or when a l|longer supply was necessary due to travel or
ot her |ogistical barriers. The third conponent was for changes
to the prescription drug nonitoring program a data base
accessible to prescribers and dispensers, in order to share
informati on about controlled substances. He declared that the
data base was secure and confidential, and net the requirenments
of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
(HI PAA) . He added that this database was not openly avail able
to | aw enforcenment without appropriate search warrant authority.

DR. BUTLER said that the proposed bill authorized the pharnmacy
board to issue routine periodic confidential reports to
prescribers to provide feedback on their prescribing practices
relative to those of their peers. These "report cards" were a
good way to provide feedback for providers for their own
prescribing habits. He said that this had been proven effective
in other states for reducing the nunber of excessi ve
prescriptions wth other substances. He stated that the second
conponent of the changes to the prescription drug nonitoring
program (PDWMP) was for clarification to include veterinarians
who prescribe opioids to register and use the nonitoring

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 6- March 18, 2017



pr ogram He referenced recent nedia reports regarding attenpts
to get opioid nmedications fromveterinarians. He explained that
the third conponent was to nmake the PDVP a nore useful tool by
providing that pharmacists update the data on a daily, rather
than weekly, basis. He stated that the proposed bill had a
zero-fiscal note from the Departnent of Health and Soci al
Services and the Department of Corrections, and a one-tinme cost
of $27,500 from the Departnment of Conmerce, Conmunity & Econom c
Devel opnent to cover legal costs to anmend the regulations and
for printing. He directed attention to a letter of support from
the Al aska Dental Society.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked if there had been a response from
pharmaci sts regardi ng the nore frequent updating of PDWP

DR, BUTLER said that there had been this discussion with the
pharmaci sts and that DHSS shared concern for any increased
burden on the smaller pharnacies. He explained that there could
be a delay for this requirenent to take effect. He pointed out
that sonme of the larger, nore automated pharmacies already
updated nore frequently than currently required by |aw.

3:16: 58 PM

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ asked about the option for patients to decline
the full prescription anmount, as it seemed counter intuitive to
ask permssion to accept less nedicine than prescribed. She
asked if that was not currently possible.

DR. BUTLER offered his belief that "it depends on who you ask”
and that federal |aw had recently changed, which clarified that
pharmaci sts could do a partial fill at the request of the
patient.

REPRESENTATIVE KITO pointed out that there were certain
nmedi cations which required the full regimen to be effective,
whi ch could | ead to some confusion.

DR. BUTLER acknow edged and stated that the |aw specified for
federally designated Schedule 2 controlled substances. He said
that this use for full reginmen may have inadvertently lead to
patient confusion with opioid prescriptions.

3:19:16 PM

DR. BUTLER paraphrased from the Sectional Analysis [Included in
menbers' packets], which read:

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -7- March 18, 2017



Sec. 1 Adds a new Chapter 55, Voluntary Nonopioid
Directive Act, to AS 13, Decedent s’ est at es,

guardi anshi ps, transfers, trusts, and health care
decisions, that provides an option for patients to
execute a Voluntary Nonopioid Directive that would
allow a person in recovery (or for other reasons) to
make clear the person’s desire not to be adm nistered
an opioid. A person, guardian, conservator or other
appoi nted person may revoke a directive at any tine.

The person would provide this confidential information
to a health care provider or hospital on a form
provided by the Departnment of Health of Socia

Services. The departnment would promul gate regulations
on procedures, confidentiality, and exenptions for
emergency or substance msuse treatnent. Providers are
not liable for followng a directive. Prescriptions
are assuned to be valid; pharmacists are not |iable
for dispensing a controlled substance in contradiction
to a directive. The directive does not alter an
advance health care directive, limt opioid overdose
drugs, or limt treatnment for substance abuse or
opi oi d dependence.

Sec. 2-25 Amend AS 08, Business and Professions, for
the Boards of Dentistry, Medi ci ne, Nursing, and
Optonetry to

* Require two (2) hours of pain managenent and opioid
m suse and addi ction instruction;

* Disciplinary actions for prescribing or dispensing
an opioid in excess of the maxi num dosage allowed by
law or violated a law related to drugs, regardl ess of
any crimnal action;

. Set the maxi num dosage for initial opioid
prescriptions at a seven-day supply unless, in the
practitioner’s professional judgnent, it is necessary
for chronic pain managenent or a patient is unable to
access a practitioner in time to refill t he

prescription; and

* Require, for a mnor under 18 years of age, the
practitioner discuss with the parent or guardian why
the prescription is necessary and the risks associ ated
wi th opioid use.

Sec. 26-27 Anmend AS 08.80 for the Board of Pharmacy to

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 8- March 18, 2017



* Register with the Prescription Drug Mnitoring
Dat abase (PDWP) with or wthout a federal Dr ug
Enf orcenment Adm nistration registration nunber; and

e Alow pharmacists to dispense less than the

prescri bed ampbunt of a schedule Il or I1Il controlled
substance at a person’s request; the pharmaci sts woul d
i nform t he prescri bi ng practitioner and t he

Prescription Drug Monitoring Database.

Sec. 28 Anends AS 08.98 for the Board of Veterinary
Medicine to ¢ Register with the Prescription Drug
Monitoring Database if the veterinarian has a federa
Drug Enforcenent Adm nistration nunber; and

e ldentify resources and educational materials for
veterinarians to identify clients at risk for opioid
m suse or diversion of prescribed opioids.

Sec. 29-36 Amend AS 17.30, Controlled Substances, to
change the frequency pharmacists report to the
Prescription Drug Monitoring Database from weekly to
daily; renove the prohibition on sharing information
with the federal governnment. The pharmacy board nay
provide a confidential wunsolicited notification in
sutmmary formto a practitioner’s licensing board which

includes the basis for the notification. The
notification nust be provided to the practitioner as
wel | .

Sec. 37 Directs the Departnment of Health and Soci al
Services to draft regulations to inplenent the
Vol untary Nonopioid Directive Act.

Sec. 38 Repeals sunset dates in sections 52 and 73 of
Ch. 25, SLA 2016 (SB 74).

Sec. 39-40 Set an immediate effective date and provide
an effective date for regul ations.

3:28: 24 PM
REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN asked for the type of information on the
report cards and whether the confidentiality was discoverable in

any | egal action.

DR. BUTLER explained that the report cards, as used in other
states, would conpare the usage over the previous 12 nonths with

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -9- March 18, 2017



ot her providers. He replied that he did not know if this was
di scoverable in a | egal situation

REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN directed attention to page 7, [lines 8 -
9] of the proposed bill, and questioned whether there should be
sanctions "regardless of whether there has been a crimnal
action or patient harm" He expressed his concern, as there was
the possibility of easily breaking one of many, many | aws. He
asked if this was opening up the providers to liability.
Al t hough he was unsure of the inplications, he suggested this
mght require the hiring of extra staff to deal with potential
technical violations, or the increasing of insurance coverage

He asked for the reason behind this |anguage.

DR. BUTLER offered his understanding that this |anguage was not
new in this bill.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR directed attention to page 28, Section 36,
of the proposed bill, and stated that she was supportive of the
idea that providers be responsible, benchmark their practice
against others, and adjust their own prescribing practices
accordingly. She pointed out that the |anguage was perm ssive
and not required, and asked if this should be required. She
declared that providers were part of the solution, as they
recognized that there were alternative options for their
patients to address health care needs.

DR. BUTLER expl ained that the primary goal of Section 36 of the

proposed bill was to provide authority to the Board of Pharnmacy
to issue the report cards, and whether or not it was a nandate
was a matter of ideol ogy. He said that, as the issuance of

these types of report cards was not currently allowed under
Al aska law, the desire was to establish the authority to do so.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked i f t he boar d had a better
under standi ng for whether this would be voluntary. She asked if
these were the recommendati ons fromthe task force.

DR. BUTLER, in reference to the Alaska Opioid Policy Task Force,
said that a nunber of its recomendati ons were used in the bill.

3:35: 28 PM
CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ said that the bill would be held over.

SB 91- DI SASTER EMERGENCY: OPI O D EPI DEM C

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 10- March 18, 2017



3:35:50 PM

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ announced that the next order of business would
be CS FOR SENATE BILL NO 91(HSS), "An Act relating to the
opioid epidemc; authorizing the chief nedical officer of the
Department of Health and Social Services to issue a standing
order for the prescription of an opioid overdose drug; and
providing for an effective date."

JAY BUTLER, WMD, Chief Medical Oficer/ DPH Director, Central
Ofice, Division of Public Health, Departnment of Health and
Social Services, reported that in late 2016, Departnent of
Heal t h and Social Services was awarded a five-year federal grant
to support an opioid overdose prevention program which included
the distribution of nal oxone, a lifesaving drug when
adm ni stered during an opioid overdose. He explained that the
grant funds had been used to acquire a nasal spray form of the
drug which was part of the rescue kit, and distributed through
Project HOPE, Harm reduction Overdose Prevention and Educati on.
He added that Project HOPE had prioritized partnerships wth
staff of organizations which did not have nedical direction, and
whose staff were nost likely to be present when an overdose
occurred, including first responders and recover support. I n
order to provide the kits statew de under a standing order, with
a prescription that was present, DHSS had explored sone options
and decided that the best way to nove forward expeditiously was
for the state nedical officer to issue a standing order, under a
di saster decl aration. He reported that the governor had issued
the disaster declaration on February 14, with an anticipated

| egislative resolution to extend this declaration. He pointed
out that no state funds were requested, and that 14 provider
organi zations had received over 1200 Kkits. He reported that

Legislative Legal Services had offered the opinion that a bill
was required to extend the disaster declaration for continued
distribution of the Kkits. He reported that SB 91 included
further inprovenents to HB 174, as it authorized the Chief
Medical O ficer of DHSS to issue a state wi de standing order for
prescription of an opioid overdose drug. This authorization
woul d nean that the disaster declaration was no | onger necessary
to conduct the program and would be allowed to |apse after 30

days, as prescribed under Al aska statute. He added that, as
stated in AS 44.62.270, energencies were held to a m ni num He
poi nted out that the proposed bill had a zero fiscal note, and

was supported by the federal grant.

3:40: 20 PM

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -11- March 18, 2017



DR. BUTLER paraphrased from Senate Bill 91 Sectional Analysis,
version J, [Included in nenbers' packets] which read:

Sec. 1 anends AS 17.20.085, Opioid overdose drugs, to
authorize the Chief Medical Oficer to issue a
standing order, including a statew de standing order
for the prescription of an opioid overdose drug
t hrough June 30, 2021. The departnent is required to
report annually to the Legislature on the opioid
epi dem c’s SAMHSA grant activities and expenditures.

Sec. 2 repeals section 1 on June 30, 2021.

Sec. 3 makes the effective date retroactive to Mrch
15, 2017, when the disaster declaration expires.

Sec. 4 provides for an imedi ate effective date.
REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN said that the conmmttee substitute was
cleaner than the original and he asked iif the energency
[ decl aration] had expired and was not bei ng extended.

DR. BUTLER replied, "that is correct."

REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN voi ced his support for not meking a habit
of declaring energencies for one year.

3:42:18 PM

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ opened public testinony.

3:43: 38 PM

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ cl osed public testinony.

3:43:45 PM

REPRESENTATIVE TARR noved to report CSSB 91(HSS) out of
commttee with individual recomendations and the acconpanying
zero fiscal notes. There being no objection, CSSB 91(HSS) was
nmoved from the House Health and Social Services Standing
Comm ttee.

3:44:10 PM

The commttee took an at ease from3:44 p.m to 3:49 p.m

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -12- March 18, 2017



3:49: 32 PM

HB 103- OPTOVETRY & OPTOMVETRI STS

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ announced that the final order of business would

be HOUSE BIL
optonetry. "

[In front of

L NO 103, "An Act relating to the practice of

the coomttee was the proposed commttee substitute

for HB 103, Version D.]

3:49: 57 PM

BERNI CE NI SBETT, Staff, Representative 1vy Spohnholz, Al aska

State Legi sl

ature, paraphrased from the sponsor statenent

[ 1 ncluded i n nenbers' packets] which read:

HB 103
St at ut e,
allows t

noderni zes and updates the Alaska Optonetry
as many parts are over 50 years old. It
he optonetry board the authority to regul ate

its practice the same as other prescribing health
prof essions such as dentistry, medicine and nursing.

This bil

| also allows the board to continue to adopt

regul ations, updated to current practice and noves the
continuing education (CE) requirenents back into
regul ations. Continuing education is still required by

current

statute, but the hours and subjects wll be

determined by the board as wth other professions.
This change allows the board flexibility to control CE
requirenents and is recomended by the Departnent of

Commerce, Community and Economc Developnent. The
current regulations require nore CE hours than the
statute subsection deleted by this bill. HB 103 all ows
the optonetry board to determne prescribed drug
schedules, including standards and I|imtations on
practice determned by the board. The bill ensures
that no licensee may perform any procedure beyond the

scope of the |licensee’s education, training, and
experience as established by the board. This allows
for future new and inproved diagnostic and therapeutic
procedures as determined by the board, while not

having t

o return to the legislature for every new

t echnol ogi cal advance, which is currently the case and
unnecessarily burdensone. The optonetry definition in
this bill is updated to reflect current and nodern-day

practice.

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 13- March 18, 2017



M5. NI SBETT paraphrased fromthe Sectional Analysis [Included in
menbers' packets], which read:

Section 1 AS.08.72.050 (4)(6) updates very old
statutes to indicate that regulations shall be adopted
to govern the current prescription and wuse of
pharmaceutical agents; and develop uniform standards
for the practice of optonetry.

Section 2 AS.08.72.060 (c)(4) the board shall publish
advi sory opinions regarding standards for the practice
of optonetry.

Section 3 AS 08.72.181(d) nmoves the continuing
education (CE) requirenents back into regulation, as
desired by the Departnment of Commerce, Community and
Econom ¢ Devel opnent. Continuing education is stil
required by current statute, but the hours and
subjects will be determ ned by the board.

Section 4 AS 08.72.272(a) «clarifies the current
statute for the board to regul ate pharnmaceutical agent
prescription including standards and Ilimtations on
practice determ ned by the board.

Section 5 AS 08.72.278 Limtation on practice adds a
new section that sets I|imtations on services,
ensuring that the board nmay not authorize any
procedure beyond the scope of the |licensee s education
and experi ence.

Section 6 AS 08.72.300(3) wupdates the optonetry
definition to reflect current practice.

Section 7 Effective date for Section 2. This is
because (3) of Section 2 was added to statute in 2016

via Senate Bill 74, the Medicaid Reform bill, and it
had the effective date of July 2017, so (4) is witten
to conmply with that date as well. (per Legislative
Drafting)

3:52:17 PM

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ opened public testinony.

3:52:44 PM

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -14- March 18, 2017



JILL GEERI NG MATHESON, OD, reported that she was a practicing
doctor of optonetry and that she had testified numerous tines
before legislative conmttees in support of changes to the

optonmetry statute over the last 25 years. She expl ained that
those statutes had allowed doctors of optonetry to safely
practice to the level of their training and education. She

asked for support to proposed HB 103, explaining that the state
boards and comm ssions were appointed and confirnmed by the
Al aska State Legislature to represent the people of Alaska in
these areas of expertise. She explained that the state chose to
set up separate boards for each nedical profession because each
prof essi on was uni que and the oversight needed to be handl ed by
the nenbers of that profession. She noted that the approved
statutes were very broad for the nedical board, the dentistry
board, and the Board of Advanced Practice Nurses, and that these
boards could autononously manage their respective professions

within the law in an honest, safe and responsi ble manner. She
pointed out that the optonmetry statute, however, was too
conplicated and restrictive. Proposed HB 103 would allow the

State Board of Examiners in Optonetry to have the sanme autonony
as the other boards. She assured the conmittee that, as a past
president of the state optonetry board, the board acted with the
same |level of professionalism and safety as the aforenentioned

boards. She reiterated that the proposed bill was not about eye
surgery, even though doctors of optonmetry had performed m nor
eye surgery for nany years. They were trained in depth for
these procedures, which were routine wthin the scope of
practice. She declared that she would no nore perform an eye
surgery that she was not trained for than any other profession

She offered her belief that all pr of essi ons, i ncl udi ng

optonetry, must evolve and there was no way to predict what
tools and options a doctor of optonetry would need in 20 years
to protect or cure the vision of a patient. She stated that the

proposed bill allowed the profession to evolve and nake the
necessary changes. HB 103 allowed doctors of optonetry in
Al aska to operate with the sane autonony, respect, efficiency,
and over si ght as t he ot her pr of essi onal heal t h care

practitioners were granted.

REPRESENTATI VE SULLI VAN- LEONARD asked about the mnor surgeries
performed by optonetrists.

DR. MATHESON explained that the npbst comon surgery was for

removal of a foreign body, and that these had been approved and
aut hori zed for al nost 25 years.

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -15- March 18, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE TARR offered her belief that practitioners should
be authorized to practice to their full scope and be regul ated
by peer professionals. She stated her support for the proposed
bill. She said that regulations would be drafted, which would
be followed by a public comment period when professionals could
speak out, and if there was anything questionable, the process
woul d reveal any probl ens.

DR. MATHESON expressed her agreenent that any conplaint brought
to the board would be investigated, and there could be a vote to
see if there should be a sanction on an optonetrist. She said
that the l|egal process would also be started. She stated that
there had not been any sanctions against optonmetrists during her
8 years on the board.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked if the regulations were available for
public comment.

DR. MATHESON expressed her agreenment, and explained that after
the regulations were set, they went to Departnent of Law to
ensure they net the law, went out for public comment, and were
again voted on by the board.

REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN stated that the investigation process
could be very costly, even if they did not result in sanctions.
He asked if there was any hesitation due to the potential of an
increase to liability cost.

DR. MATHESON replied that she was not aware of any opposition
from optonetrists for that reason, and she explained that this
could lead to an increase in licensing fees at a later tine.
She offered her belief that optometrists and the board were all
"a pretty conservative bunch.™

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ pointed out that Dr. Matheson was a practicing
optonetri st and not necessarily an expert on the operations of
t he board.

REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN asked why the optonetry board was not
currently treated Iike the other boards.

DR. MATHESON offered her belief that this had just been a matter
of time, and, as other parts of the statute had been cl eaned up,
this was now the final stage.

4:04:01 PM

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 16- March 18, 2017



HARRI ET M LKS, Assistant Attorney GCeneral, Commercial and Fair
Busi ness Section, Cvil D vision (Juneau), Departnment of Law,
said that she represented professional |icensing boards.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked about the process.

M5. MLKS, in response, said that the board typically drafted
the proposed regulation, and it often took tinme to determ ne the
| anguage which represented the inclination of the board. Then
the proposed regulation went out for public coment. It could
go out nore than once for public coment and for nore than 30
days. She noted that, based on public comment, the board could
revisit the regulation, and if there were substantial changes,
it would again go out for public comment. She acknow edged t hat
the transparency of this process could sonetines frustrate the
public for the ampbunt of time necessary to adopt a regul ation.
She added that the board did discuss the scope of practice. She
said that typically the health care related boards net at | east
two or three tinmes each year, and that the public was always
advi sed.

4:08: 09 PM

RACHEL REI NHARDT, VD, American Acadeny of  Opht hal nol ogy,
reported that she was a board-certified ophthal nol ogist. She
stated her opposition to proposed HB 103. She said that the
primary goal of any legislation involving nedical care was for
patient safety. She stated that HB 103 renoved the existing

surgery restrictions, and would redefine the field. She asked
that it be clearly specified in the law that surgery was outside
the scope of practice for optonetry. She said that wthout
specific |anguage to restrict surgery, Al aska would be the first
state to adopt such broad unprecedented |egislation. She
suggested that the definition of surgery be added to the
proposed bill, and that surgery be expressly prohibited. She
noted that the Board of Optonetry could still govern its own

prof essi on, even though surgery was prohibited. She offered an
exanpl e of the lack of restrictions under the klahoma |aw. She
said that a major study released in July 2016 had data which
concluded that optometrists doing |aser surgery in Cklahoma were
causing patient harm and increasing health care costs. She
stated that the proposed bill would result in unprecedented
sweeping change in the practice of optonetry, wth profound
inplications for patient safety. She said that, at the very
| east the proposed bill needed a definition of surgery to ensure
public safety. She made the distinction that optonetry schoo
was not a nedical education or a surgical education, as the

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -17- March 18, 2017



students received approximtely one tenth of the clinical hours.
She concluded by stating that prescription narcotic death was
the | eading cause of unintended death in the country, and that
HB 103 would allow optonetrists to prescribe these narcotics.
She declared that this was not the tinme to expand who could
prescribe these nedications.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR said that there was a challenge from a
shortage of providers in every area of health care in Al aska.
She suggested that the proposed bill offered an opportunity for
trained professionals to neet this need for health care. She
relayed that the optonetrists wanted to continue with the things
t hey had al ready done for the past decade.

DR. REI NHARDT rel ayed that there were 26 ophthal nol ogists in the
State of Alaska and that the State of Washington had a simlar
rati o of ophthal nologists to the popul ation. She acknow edged
that the Al aska popul ation was spread over renote areas, though
she stated that the State of Washington had patients in renote
areas, as well. She said that it was inportant to note that
opht hal nol ogi sts had a responsibility for patient safety. She
suggested that there was a nationwide trend of optonetrists
introducing vague bills with the intention of expanding the
scope to include surgery.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSTON asked about the conmittee substitute
whi ch had renoved the reference to surgery.

DR.  REI NHARDT explained that the commttee substitute did not
change Sections 5 and 6, which offered new definitions for
optonetry, which inserted |anguage for treatnent or performance
of preventive procedures. She stated that the inclusion of
treatment opened the door for any treatnment nodality to treat
any and all eye diseases, and it included surgery. She deened
that the crux of the issue was that the new definition of
optonetry could be interpreted to include all surgeries.

4:17:41 PM

VICTORIA BLOWER, OD, Optonetrist, shared that she had been in
optonetric practice in Anchorage for 32 years. She stated her
support for HB 103. She reported that technology and best

practices had advanced to allow for superior nedical care, which
i ncluded eye care. She pointed out that the statute governing
the optonetry board was nore than 40 years old and did not all ow
for reaction to the rapidly changing environnent wthout
repeatedly going to the Alaska State Legislature for action.

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 18- March 18, 2017



She noted that the protocols had been extended to protect the
public. She shared her respect for the Board of Optonetry. She
said it was wunfair and a waste of resources to prevent
optonmetrists from providing care at the highest level of their
education and training, as this did include know edge about the
entire body. She pointed out that, as so nuch of Al aska was
rural, nost of the eye care was admnistered by the nore than
150 optonetrists serving in 80 comunities. She directed
attention to a letter of support from the CEO of the
Sout hcentral Foundati on. She expressed her objection to the
argunent that optonetrists could not be trusted to have sound
j udgenent about their skills and training, thereby not acting in
the public's best interest. She offered exanples about other
medi cal professions working within their education and training.
She stated that HB 103 would nodernize the statute and allow
detailed legislation to be determ ned by the optonetry board, as
was the current standard in all other prescribing professions in
Al aska. It would also streamline the |Ilegislative governing
process and bring the best practices to the residents of the
state in a cost-effective manner.

4:21:43 PM

KARL ROSEN, MD, Ophthal nol ogi st, voiced his strong opposition to
the proposed bill. He reported that he had been in practice for
23 years in Anchorage. He shared his educational background.
He declared that the proposed bill was the nbst expansive scope
of practice bill in the country. He said that the bill
dism ssed the rigorous training of an ophthal nol ogist. He

offered his belief that the optonetry board, a group of non-
sur geons, was going to decide which ©potential sur gi cal
privileges would be allowed. He suggested to correct the
proposed bill by providing an amendnent with a definition of
surgery. He declared that the optonetry board already had the
ability to regulate its profession. He shared an article which
refuted the statenent that nore optonetrists doing procedures
would cut costs, and he directed attention to a study which
determined that nore than twice the nunber of eyes were re-

treated after | aser surgery by optonetrists ver sus
opht hal nol ogi sts. He stated that health policy makers shoul d be
cautious about approving |aser privileges for optonetrists. He

pointed out that optonmetrists did not take hospital calls and
did not have hospital privileges, and if a conplication
occurred, there would be the need to transfer patients to a
hospi tal . He declared "you can't get good doing a couple of
procedures a year." He said that insurance carriers would not
accept CPT codes by optonetrists. He declared that, should all

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -19- March 18, 2017



privileges be made simlar, then there needed to be an equally
strong legislative effort to ensure that all aspects of school
training, and continued conpetency were also simlar, or it
woul d becone a two-tiered system for patients. He declared that
the proposed bill would nmke it difficult to recruit new
opht hal nol ogi sts to Al aska.

REPRESENTATI VE KI TO asked how much of his educational study and
experience provided for vision and eye, or was nost of it just
medi cal .

DR. ROSEN expl ai ned his education and background, which included
three years of ophthalnology residency of nore than 110 hours
each week. He stated that it was not a job, it was a lifestyle,
a culture. He shared that studying at a nmjor nedical center
included interaction with the other colleges and allowed for
better conmunication with the other areas of nedicine.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR said that she shared the concern for
surgeries by properly trained individuals. She nused that, if
the Board of Optonetry wanted to propose regulations allow ng
performance of Lasik surgery, those regulations would be opened
for a public comment period. She offered her belief that those
with views simlar to Dr. Rosen would speak out in opposition

She said that she did not see the circunstance to which he was
worried actually happening, as it would not make its way through
t he public process.

DR. ROSEN replied that this was an ideol ogical question and he
asked if optonetry was being redefined. He said that there had
been a change in the past 10 years, and that optonetry wanted to
be sonething el se. He stated that there had been a process for
standardi zation in the Anerican Medical System since 1910.

REPRESENTATIVE TARR reiterated that she could not see a
circunstance where this woul d happen.

DR. ROSEN said nost providers followed their oath, although he
was there to protect the public fromthe outliers. He rem nded
that there was nethod in place for |icensing.

4:33:23 PM
ALFRED  DERAMUS, VD, Opht hal nol ogi st stated his gentle
opposition to the proposed bill. He said that this was the

| atest legislation on which he had been testifying since 1982
He said that the ophthal nol ogist purview for the definition of

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 20- March 18, 2017



surgery was different than the definition of surgery by

optonetry. Hi s problem was that the proposed legislation |eft
an opening for interpretation that treatnent for all eye disease
could include surgery. He declared that "we should be very
very  careful about this bill." He  enphasized that

opht hal nol ogi sts were concerned that optonetrists would perform
opht hal m ¢ surgeries and be protected by the definition.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSTON asked what type of surgery would be
performed by optonetrists.

DR. DERAMIS replied that the definition was open ended, and he
offered an exanple for the renoval of a superficial foreign body
versus a deeply inbedded foreign body in the cornea.

CHAIR SPOHNHOLZ referenced the earlier testinony regarding the
regul atory process for changing regulations around the practice
of optometry and asked if he was concerned that there would not
be the opportunity to testify and for those concerns to be put
on the record.

DR. DERAMUS expressed his agreenment that he would be allowed to
testify, and, in response to Chair Spohnhol z, that he was aware
that the neetings of the Board of Optonetry were all public. He
replied that he had only testified on one occasion regarding
various optonetric bills, and that he had found that, regarding
the experience, he had been able to present his point of view
and have it weighed by the board. In further response to Chair
Spohnhol z, he said that he had always been treated respectfully
by the board.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR reiterated that she could not see the
ci rcunst ance whereby optonetrists were given the authority to
perform procedures that offered concern to ophthal nol ogist. She
stated that there were "bad actors that are in the provider
community whether it be for dental care or physical therapy or
ot her areas."”

DR. DERAMUS said that the reality of life goes far beyond the
witten or spoken word. He said that the pain of experience
froma surprise was "where you really find out where you stand.”
He offered an exanple for a seem ngly m nor accident.

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ asked if he was suggesting that an optonetri st
mght try to treat this incident in an energency room

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -21- March 18, 2017



DR. DERAMUS replied that he did not believe that an optonetri st
would be in the operating room because they did not have
admtting privileges.

4:45: 43 PM

DAVI D ZUVBRO, MD, Ophthal nol ogist, shared his background as a
reti na surgeon. He offered his belief that the proposed bil
"radically redefines optonetry" as optonetry did not have any
procedural background in its training or practice. He stated
that the proposed bill renoved the prohibition against lasers in
surgery. He declared that there was a difference between

optonetry and opht hal nol ogy. He offered an exanple of some co-
workers who were optonetrists and had gone back to school for
opht hal nol ogy. He stated that they were not given any credit by
the nedical school for their doctor of optonetry degree. He
offered his belief that the regulations had changed in 2008 when
prescriptive authority advanced the scope of the optonetry

practice. The proposed bill was too vague and open ended, as it
removed the specific prohibition against lasers in surgery and
al | oned non-physicians to regulate the practice of surgery. He

declared that the focus of any health care issue should be
patient safety.

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ asked where the | egislation changed the scope of
practice.

DR. ZUVMBRO expl ai ned that the renoval of the prohibition against
|asers in surgery and the allowance for the treatnent of eye
conditions were worrisone, as it would allow optonetrists to
expand the scope of practice.

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ stated that the proposed bill did not renove any
limtations, but only added |anguage for the opportunity to use
pharmaceutical agents for the treatnent of eye disease and
develop uniform standards for the practice of optonetry. She
said that it rescinded the limtations on the anount of
education, as the continuing education requirenents had already
been expanded.

DR, ZUMBRO suggested that an anendnent defining eye surgery
woul d offer clarity for all the parties.

4:50: 30 PM

PAUL BARNEY, OD, Chair, Board of Optometry, reassured the
commttee that the board did not have the authority to wite

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE -22- March 18, 2017



regulations for anything that optonmetrists did not have the
education to do, and that the purpose of the board was to
protect the public. 1In response to Representative Tarr, he said
that he supported the bill.

4:52:17 PM
ELI ZABETH MORGAN, MD, Ophthal nologist, said that she had

practiced in Anchorage for alnost 14 years, and that she worked
closely with optometrists, especially in working with glaucom

patients. She lauded the relationship and stated that the
proposed bill created a divisive force between the two
practices. She said that ophthal nologists took eye care of
individuals very seriously and they were adamant if there was
something that threatened the patient's best interest. She
offered her belief that the problem with the bill was that the
| anguage was "a bit open ended.” She suggested that the two

groups of providers arrive at a common definition for treatnent
that was in the best interest of the patient.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSTON asked for that definition for treatnent.

DR. MORGAN of fered her belief that both sides needed to agree on
the definition of surgery.

4:56: 01 PM

DAVID KARPIK, OD, stated that he was an optonetrist and his
group provided the majority of eye care on the Kenai Peninsul a.
He reported that he was also the nedical director [indisc], and
that these practices offered simlar conprehensive eye care
services and worked in conjunction wth other primary care

provi ders. He declared that this nodel was cost effective and
in the patient's best interest. He stated that optonetrists
practiced in small conmunities throughout Al aska and had a |ong
history of conpassionate conservative care. He referenced a

recent study which reported that Al aska was last in access to
health care, and that this was an opportunity to help change
that alarmng statistic. He said that all health care providers
practiced to the extent of their ever-evolving training. He
declared that optonetrists have had full prescribing privileges
for 10 years. He pointed out that optonetrists had been safely
perform ng procedures for decades, noting that they had training
on the entire body. He said that sonme schools duplicate nedica
and dental courses for the first few years of the program

4:59: 26 PM

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 23- March 18, 2017



ERIC COULTER, MD, Ophthal nologist, referenced a letter that he
had sent to the commttee, and shared that he had good
relationships with optonetrists. He stated that privileges were
delineated through hospitals and surgery centers and were
outlined by Iaw He expressed his concern that the optonetric
community would not let the public know the differences in
medi cal training. He declared that the proposed bill needed a
definition of surgery.

5:02:17 PM

ERI K CHRI STIANSON, OD, Optonetrist, said that he was the only
full-time eye care provider in the community. He suggested that
the proposed bill was nodernizing |anguage to allow the
profession to nove forward and regulate simlar to other health
care providers. He said that the goal was to work as
effectively as possible, and that there were a variety of little
procedures that could be done often enough to be good. He
expressed his concern for the rural communities to get qualified
health care providers, and, unless there was the ability to
practice to the level of training, it would be difficult to
attract them

5:04: 28 PM
CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ cl osed public testinony.
5:04:51 PM

CHAI R SPOHNHOLZ stated that the proposed bill was introduced to
noderni ze the way optonetry was managed in Al aska, as it was the
only health profession in the state where it was necessary to
visit in statute every tine a small change was nmade to education
or scope of practice. She pointed out that things changed nore
rapidly than the legislature could nove. She offered her belief
that there were enough tools in the regulatory process to allow
for robust public participation and opportunities for concerns
to be expressed and to ensure that the Board of Optonetry would
not "go rogue." She added that the proposed bill would get the
| egi sl ature out of the business of m cromanaging optonetrists.
She shared a personal story of an eye surgery perfornmed by a
| ocal optonetrist. She offered her belief that it was best to
not define "surgery" in statute as it was a conplex and broad
term She shared that it was very difficult to arrive at a
definition of “"surgery" which net all the criteria. She
suggested that it was best to let the regulatory process work

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 24- March 18, 2017



She said that best nanagenment practices were to delegate
authority to the Iowest possible level, and allow those
prof essionals the opportunity to performtheir work. She |auded
the "robust regulatory process as it related to the way that
board regul ati ons were adopted. "

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSTON asked how the board for chiropractors
regul ated in Al aska.

M5. MLKS, in response, explained that the Board of Chiropractic
Exam ners was managed with the sanme |legal advice from the
Departnment of Law as the other boards. She stated that an
Assi stant Attorney General was assigned to advise in both board
pr ocedure and pr ocedure for constructing and adopti ng
regul ations, and that sonetines the Assistant Attorney GCeneral
woul d attend the board neetings.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSTON asked if there was a simlar process for
change which required bringing proposed changes to the Al aska
State Legislature.

IVB. MLKS replied that all the boards were under the
Adm ni strative Procedure Act (APA). She explained that the APA
set out the procedures for adopting regulations and having
hearings, and that all +the boards were wunder the APA and
foll owed the sane rules with respect to adoption of regul ations.

REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN shared that the board of chiropractors
were very proud of their process, as they had pursued sone
uni que approaches to their profession. He expressed his hope
that the Board of Optonetry would review this exanple. He asked
whet her an expanded scope for optonetrists would result in fewer
opht hal nol ogi st s.

CHAI R SPOCHNHOLZ enphasi zed that she did not, as the sponsor of
the proposed bill, introduce the bill because of the unique
nature of the state. She said that this was a response to a
conparison of the State of Alaska to the State of Washington by
an earlier testifier. She declared that the intent of the
proposed bill was not to expand the scope of the Board of
Optonetry, but instead to delegate discussions regarding the
practice of optonetry to the Board of Optonetry, rather than
having it done in statute on an annual basis.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR said that she would have concerns if the

regul ations allowed for optonetrists to perform eye surgery.
She offered her understanding that this was beyond the scope of

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 25- March 18, 2017



practice, and she could not see a circunstance in which this
woul d be the result. She declared that there were many barriers
to expansion of specialties. She opined that with the limted
nunber of providers it was necessary to take the opportunity to
allow practice to the full scope of training. She added that
the health care fields were always evolving, and she stated her
support of HB 103.

5:15:41 PM

REPRESENTATI VE TARR noved to report CSHB 103, Version 30-
LS0459\ D, Bruce, 2/21/17, out of <conmttee wth individual
recommendati ons and the acconpanying fiscal notes. There being
no objection, CSHB 103 (HSS) was noved from the House Health and
Soci al Services Standing Conmittee.

5:17: 04 PM

ADJ QURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House
Health and Social Services Standing Conmittee neeting was
adj ourned at 5:17 p. m

HOUSE HSS COW TTEE - 26- March 18, 2017



